# FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 15 1995

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT

DAVID KUHNLEIN, et al.,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

vs.

Case No. 85,618

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE; et al.,

Appellees/Defendants.

#### APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Christopher K. Kay
Florida Bar No. 0385931
Michael J. Beaudine
Florida Bar No. 0772763
FOLEY & LARDNER
Post Office Box 2193
111 N. Orange Avenue, Suite 1800
Orlando, Florida 32802-2193
(407) 423-7656

-and-

W. Gordon Dobie
Bruce R. Braun
WINSTON & STRAWN
35 West Wacker Drive
Chicago, Illinois 60601-9703
(312) 558-5600

Attorneys for Appellants/ Plaintiffs

#

# I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS.

Class Plaintiffs commenced this action on August 6, 1992, seeking a declaration that the Florida Vehicle Impact Fee, § 319.231, Florida Statutes, violated the United Constitution, and an order requiring a refund of all monies collected under § 319.231. [R 10]. On November 30, 1993, the trial court issued a Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs. [R 1522]. The trial court found that "[t]he impact fee patently discriminates against interstate commerce by making a distinction between otherwise similar motor vehicles based solely on the vehicles' origin outside the state. This discrimination renders the entire statute unconstitutional. . ." The trial court further held that "the commerce [R 1543-44]. clause violation alone is sufficient to require a refund in this case because the court is unable to provide any other clear and certain remedy as a matter of law." [R 1544].

Based on its findings, the trial court declared that § 319.231 was unconstitutional and "invalid <u>ab initio</u>," it enjoined the State of Florida from further enforcing § 319.231 and from "collecting the impact fees purportedly authorized thereunder," and it ordered the State to "refund the impact fees actually paid by each plaintiff in this case." [R 1544]. The trial court specifically held that its order of a full refund was "final". [R 1544].

Section 319.231 imposed an "impact fee" of \$295 on "each original certificate of title issued for a motor vehicle previously titled outside of this state." Section 319.231 took effect on July 1, 1991.

The trial court's Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs was automatically stayed by the filing of the State's appeal thereof on December 2, 1993. [R 1567]. On December 3, 1993, Class Plaintiffs moved the trial court to vacate the stay, or in the alternative, to escrow the fees collected under § 319.231 in an interest-bearing account during the pendency of the appeal. [R 1387, 1398]. The State objected, and the trial court denied the Class Plaintiffs' motion at a hearing on December 16, 1993. [R 1422, 1476]. The State therefore continued to collect the Impact Fee under § 319.231 while its appeal was pending.

In a unanimous 6-0 opinion rendered on September 29, 1994, this Court affirmed the Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs in its entirety. <u>Dept. of Revenue v. Kuhnlein</u>, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994). This Court agreed with the trial court that "the Florida impact fee does in fact result in discrimination against out-of-state economic interests in contravention of the Commerce Clause." <u>Id.</u> at 724. In addition, this Court ruled as follows:

As the trial court below noted, the impact fee was void from its inception because the legislature acted wholly outside its constitutional powers. The only clear and certain remedy is a full refund to all who have paid this illegal tax. The result reached by the trial court and its refund order therefore are approved. <u>Id.</u> at 726.

On December 8, 1994, Class Plaintiffs moved the trial court for a final determination of the amount of postjudgment interest to be paid on the refunds due the Class. [R \_\_\_\_].<sup>2</sup> At the same time, Class Plaintiffs separately moved to recover prejudgment interest on the monies to be refunded. [R \_\_\_\_]. Class Plaintiffs served Reply Briefs in support of their respective motions on February 8, 1995. [R \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_].

The trial court conducted a hearing on Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Final Determination of Postjudgment Interest and Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Prejudgment Interest on February 10, 1995. During that hearing, the trial court directed the parties to file supplemental briefs on the issue of which postjudgment interest rate applies to this case, the flat rate of 12% per annum set forth in § 55.03(1), Florida Statutes (1993), or the adjustable rate (currently 8% per annum) set forth in § 55.03(1), Florida Statutes (1994 Supp.). [R \_\_\_\_]. Class Plaintiffs then submitted their Supplemental Brief in support of their Motion for Final Determination of Postjudgment Interest on February 17, 1995. [R \_\_\_\_]. Class Plaintiffs' Supplemental Brief argued that the flat postjudgment rate of 12% per annum provided by § 55.03(1), Florida Statutes (1993), applies to the Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs entered on November 30, 1993.

In the State's Response to the Court's Questions on the Timing and Rate of Interest dated February 17, 1995, the State conceded that the flat 12% postjudgment rate, not the new adjustable rate,

As of the date of this Initial Brief, the Clerk below had not yet fully prepared the record on appeal. When the record is prepared, Class Plaintiffs will submit a substitute Initial Brief containing all record cites not presently available.

applies to all judgments entered before January 1, 1995. [R \_\_\_\_].

Pursuant to the trial court's request, Class Plaintiffs then served
a Second Supplemental Brief in Support of their Motion for Final
Determination of Postjudgment Interest on March 9, 1995. [R \_\_\_\_,
\_\_\_].

On April 5, 1995, the trial court entered a Final Order on Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Postjudgment Interest and a Final Order on Class Plaintiffs' Motion for Prejudgment Interest, denying both. [R \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_]. In denying prejudgment interest, the trial court refused to apply the standard adopted by this Court whereby a plaintiff may recover prejudgment interest from the State, despite sovereign immunity, when the equities so warrant. [R \_\_\_\_]. The trial court also denied postjudgment interest based on its denial of prejudgment interest, despite the trial court's acknowledgment that § 55.03, Florida Statutes, "normally awards postjudgment interest when a party recovers a sum of money." [R \_\_\_\_].

On April 11, 1995, Class Plaintiffs appealed from those Final Orders. Class Plaintiffs' appeal is before this Court pursuant to an Order of the Fifth District Court of Appeal dated April 28, 1995, certifying this appeal for direct review by this Court pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.125.

## II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT.

Class Plaintiffs are entitled to recover postjudgment interest on the refunds to be paid by the State as a matter of law under Section 55.03, Florida Statutes (1993). The plain language of § 55.03 mandates an award of postjudgment interest on the judgment rendered in favor of the Class Plaintiffs on November 30, 1993. The trial court erred by failing to apply the unambiguous requirement in § 55.03(1) that a judgment "shall" bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum.

An award of postjudgment interest comports with a long line of Florida Supreme Court decisions which have awarded postjudgment interest without exception. In fact, this Court expressly held in 1991 that governmental entities are not immune from the payment of postjudgment interest on judgments entered against them. The trial court's denial of postjudgment interest conflicts with well-settled Florida law that requires application of § 55.03 to all judgments against all parties, including the State. The trial court's reasoning, that this is a tax refund case and the judgment is to be paid from the State Treasury, raises a distinction without a difference in the law.

The trial court's decision to deny postjudgment interest on the basis of its denial of prejudgment interest also conflicts with Florida law that distinguishes between the standards applicable to prejudgment and postjudgment interest. Unlike an award of prejudgment interest on a tax refund, which depends on the equities in each case, the recovery of postjudgment interest on all judgments is mandated by § 55.03. The trial court's linkage of postjudgment interest to prejudgment interest constitutes reversible error as a matter of law.

There are valid policy reasons underlying the requirement to pay postjudgment interest on any judgment. In this case, an award of postjudgment interest is necessary to avoid punishing Class Plaintiffs and rewarding the State for the State's decision to pursue an unsuccessful appeal on the merits of Class Plaintiffs' claim. In addition, an award of postjudgment interest is necessary in order to avoid the need to confront difficult constitutional issues, including due process and equal protection concerns, raised by the trial court's denial of postjudgment interest.

Finally, Class Plaintiffs are also entitled to recover prejudgment interest on their refunds. The trial court erred by applying an improper legal standard to Class Plaintiffs' request for prejudgment interest, and by failing to recognize the equities in this case that justify an award of such interest. Throughout the history of the Vehicle Impact Fee, the State acted unfairly towards the Class.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE LAW AND ARGUMENT.

- A. CLASS PLAINTIFFS ARE ENTITLED TO POSTJUDGMENT INTEREST.
  - 1. The plain language of § 55.03 mandates an award of postjudgment interest.

Section 55.03(1), Florida Statutes (1993), provides for postjudgment interest as a matter of right on <u>all</u> judgments:

(1) A judgment or decree entered on or after October 1, 1981, shall bear interest at the rate of 12 percent a year unless the judgment or decree is rendered on a written contract or obligation providing for interest at a lesser rate, in which case the judgment or decree bears interest at the rate specified in such

written contract or obligation. (Emphasis added).3

<u>See also</u> Section 687.01, Florida Statutes (1993) ("In all cases where interest shall accrue without a special contract for the rate thereof, the rate shall be 12 percent per annum, but parties may contract for a lesser or greater rate by contract in writing").

Where, as here, the plain language of a statute is unambiguous, a court may not construe the statute in a way which would limit its express terms. As this Court has noted, Florida courts are "without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or <a href="limit">limit</a>, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications." Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984) (emphasis in original). See also State v. <a href="Jett">Jett</a>, 626 So. 2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1993) ("It is a settled rule of statutory construction that unambiguous language is not subject to judicial construction, however wise it may seem to alter the plain language"); City of Miami Beach v. Galbut, 626 So. 2d 192, 193 (Fla. 1993) ("A statute's plain and ordinary meaning must be given effect unless to do so would lead to an unreasonable or ridiculous result").

The 1994 Legislature amended § 55.03 to provide for an adjustable rate applicable to judgments obtained on or after January 1, 1995. As set forth in the Statement of the Case and Facts above, the State admits that the 1994 amendments to § 55.03 are prospective in nature and therefore the 12% postjudgment rate, not the new adjustable rate, applies to all judgments entered before January 1, 1995. [R \_\_\_\_]. The Final Summary Judgment for the Class Plaintiffs was entered by the trial court herein on November 30, 1993. [R 1522, 1545].

Section 55.03(1) unambiguously provides that a judgment "shall" bear interest at the rate of 12 percent per annum, unless the judgment is based on a written contract or obligation providing for interest at a lesser rate. Well-settled rules of statutory construction dictate that "express exceptions made in a statute give rise to a strong inference that no other exceptions are intended and that exceptions will not be implied where, as here, the words of the statute are free from ambiguity." State Road Dept. v. Levato, 192 So. 2d 35, 39 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966).

Therefore, an award of postjudgment interest under § 55.03 is mandatory on any judgment and is not subject to the discretion of the trial court. Indeed, one court has held that the Legislature's use of the term "shall" in § 57.041, the litigation costs statute, "mandates that every party who recovers a judgment in a legal proceeding is entitled as a matter of right to recover lawful court costs . . [and] a trial judge has no discretion under that statute to deny court costs to the party recovering judgment." Governing Bd. of St. John's River Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Lake Pickett Ltd., 543 So. 2d 883, 884 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) (emphasis added).4

Accordingly, under § 55.03(1), Class Plaintiffs are entitled as a matter of law to postjudgment interest on their refunds from November 30, 1993, the date of the trial court's Final Summary Judgment finding the impact fee unconstitutional and ordering a

See also In re C.M.T. v. Dept. of Health and Rehab. Serv., 550 So. 2d 126, 127 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (use of the term "shall" is not permissive); Hill v. State, 624 So. 2d 826, 827 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (use of the term "shall" deprives trial court of discretion).

full refund of all fees collected under that unconstitutional statute. The trial court's denial of postjudgment interest was an impermissible effort to exercise discretion where none exists due to the plain, mandatory language of § 55.03. There is no statutory or decisional support for the denial of postjudgment interest, and none was cited in the trial court's Final Order. [R \_\_\_].

2. This Court has consistently applied § 55.03 to judgments against the State and other governmental entities.

This Court has consistently held that governmental entities like the State Defendants are not immune or exempt from having to pay postjudgment interest on judgments rendered against them. This Court has held that no statutory authority other than § 55.03 is necessary to award postjudgment interest on a judgment against the State.

For instance, in <u>Florida Livestock Bd. v. Gladden</u>, 86 So. 2d 812 (Fla. 1956), the plaintiff successfully sued the State to recover the value of wrongfully destroyed property. Relying on the silence in § 55.03 with regard to the obligation of the State to pay postjudgment interest, the State appealed the trial court's award of postjudgment interest, contending that "an agency of the state is not liable for interest in the absence of a specific statute or a lawfully binding contract providing for interest." <u>Id.</u> at 812. The plaintiff contended, on the other hand, that he was entitled to postjudgment interest because § 55.03 "applies to all judgments and makes no exceptions in favor of the state." <u>Id.</u>

This Court agreed with the plaintiff and refused to exempt the State from the duty imposed by the plain language of § 55.03. This Court concluded that, where sovereign immunity was not a bar to suit against the State, § 55.03 permitted the prevailing party to recover postjudgment interest from the State. <u>Id.</u> at 813.

This Court followed the reasoning of Florida Livestock in Stone v. Jeffres, 208 So. 2d 827 (Fla. 1968), in which it refused to limit the scope of § 55.03 based on the type of judgment or decree involved in a particular case. More specifically, the Stone Court addressed whether a prevailing party is entitled to postjudgment interest under § 55.03 on an award of attorney's fees in a workers' compensation case. This Court began its analysis by noting that "the Florida Workmen's Compensation Act does not provide expressly for allowance of interest on attorneys' fees, ... but is silent on the subject." Id. at 828. However, because § 55.03 provides postjudgment interest on "all judgments and decrees," this Court found "little justification for making a specific exception and excluding interest on compensation awards of attorney's fees." Id. at 829 (emphasis added).

In that case, the State had enacted a statute, Section 585.03, Florida Statutes, waiving its sovereign immunity from suit against Florida Livestock Board. Here, this Court has previously held that sovereign immunity is not a bar to the Class Plaintiffs' recovery in this case. Dept. of Revenue v. Kuhnlein, 646 So. 2d 717, 721 (Fla. 1994).

Following Stone, Florida courts have applied § 55.03 across the board to a wide variety of judgments and decrees. See, e.g., City of Miami Beach v. Jacobs, 341 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 348 So. 2d 945 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 939 (1977) (taxpayer class action refunds); Houghton v. City of St. Petersburg, 416 So. 2d 465 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982) (state

Similarly, in <u>Roberts v. Askew</u>, 260 So. 2d 492 (Fla. 1972), this Court upheld an award of costs and postjudgment interest in a successful quiet title suit against the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of Florida. With respect to postjudgment interest, this Court held as follows:

Fla. Stat. § 55.03, F.S.A., provides that <u>all</u> judgments and decrees shall bear interest at the rate of six per cent. This statute and other applicable statutes make <u>no exemption</u> in favor of the Trustees from the obligation to pay interest on a judgment rendered against the Trustees. <u>Id.</u> at 495 (emphasis added).

In Roberts, this Court expressly followed the same reasoning employed by this Court in Simpson v. Merrill, 234 So. 2d 350 (Fla. 1970), where the Court held that under § 57.041, Florida Statutes, "costs may be taxed against the State and its agencies in favor of the party recovering judgment." Id. at 351. The Court in Simpson explained that § 57.041 "provides for the recovery of legal costs by the party recovering the judgment in all cases except those specifically exempted." Id. The exemptions in § 57.041, the Court noted, "do not include the State or its agencies and we can find no basis for reading such an exemption into the plain language of the Act." Id. (emphasis added). Thus, in applying the reasoning in Simpson, the Roberts Court held that the State Trustees "should be required to pay interest just as they are required to pay court costs." Roberts, 260 So. 2d at 495. Accord Berek v. Metropolitan

political subdivision liable for postjudgment interest on judgment for "return of money"); Fischbach & Moore, Inc. v. McBro, 619 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (attorney's fees incurred in arbitration).

<u>Dade County</u>, 422 So. 2d 838, 840 (Fla. 1982) ("[T]he general provisions of law which make costs and interest recoverable by the prevailing party are applicable when a tort claimant prevails against the state").

As these cases demonstrate, time and again this Court has stated unequivocally that § 55.03 applies with full force and effect to the State and its agencies on "all judgments and decrees." Stone, 208 So. 2d at 829; Roberts, 260 So. 2d at 495. Beginning in Florida Livestock and continuing through Stone and Roberts, this Court has refused to read into the plain language of § 55.03 any exemption for the State, its agencies or subdivisions, or to limit the statute's scope based on the nature of the judgment or decree entered against the State.

3. This Court's recent decision in Palm Beach County v. Town of Palm Beach confirms that the State must pay postjudgment interest under § 55.03.

This Court's decision in Palm Beach County v. Town of Palm Beach, 579 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 1991), is its most recent pronouncement that § 55.03 applies to all judgments against all parties, including governmental entities. In Palm Beach County, the trial court ordered Palm Beach County to remit to 17 municipalities one-half of all ad valorem taxes collected from them during two fiscal years by the County and used for roads and bridges within the County. However, the trial court did not award postjudgment interest on the taxes to be remitted to the cities, and the cities appealed. The district court of appeal certified the following question to this Court:

IS A GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY IMMUNE FROM THE PAYMENT OF POSTJUDGMENT INTEREST UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY? <a href="Id">Id</a>. at 719.

This Court answered the certified question in the negative, finding that "the question presented is governed by section 55.03, Florida Statutes." Id. at 720. The Court rejected the County's argument that § 55.03 "is inapplicable because interest may only be awarded when the right to interest can be implied from the language of a statute which waives sovereign immunity." Id. To the contrary, this Court held as follows:

In this instance, we find it unnecessary to look for an underlying statute to imply interest, when section 55.03 expressly provides for postjudgment interest without listing any exception to its application. 
Id. (emphasis added).

This Court further pointed out that the question of "governmental immunity from suit was resolved below against the county," and that Palm Beach County was now "inappropriately attempting to relitigate the immunity issue." Id. Similarly, in this case, the Court has previously rejected the State's sovereign immunity defense on the merits of Class Plaintiffs' refund claim.

Dept. of Revenue v. Kuhnlein, 646 So. 2d 717, 721 (Fla. 1994) (Kuhnlein I). As in Palm Beach County, the State is now inappropriately attempting to relitigate the immunity issue by arguing that it should not be required to pay postjudgment interest on the refunds ordered by this Court as the "only clear and certain remedy" available to Class Plaintiffs.

The State is also attempting to circumvent this Court's ruling in <a href="Palm Beach County">Palm Beach County</a> that § 55.03 "expressly provides for

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