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

Yet despite the clear duty on the Appellants, they fail to show reversible error in their Brief. For example, Appellants claim that the trial court's ruling that the Appellants "presented no evidence to show the [Appellees] or other[s] dealt unfairly with the [Appellants] is refuted by overwhelming evidence in the record to the contrary." Appellants' Brief, p. 32. Yet after making this claim, Appellants make absolutely no reference to the record to provide this Court with even one example of such "contrary" evidence. This they cannot do! Appellants must specifically cite in the record the reversible errors of the trial court. Appellants claim the trial court "fails to account for the injury to [Appellants]." There is no cite at all to the record to support Appellants' assertion. In fact there is no such evidence. The Appellants did not produce any evidence whatsoever to show injury to any member of the class. And throughout this part of the Brief Appellants claim the State was "unjustly enriched." Again, there are no record cites as there was no such evidence so introduced. The trial court heard testimony and received documents that the money collected was placed in the General Fund and used to fund public education, prisons and social welfare as well as running Florida's government. No evidence was abduced on how this "enriched" the State. It is the Appellee' contention that the claims asserted by the Appellants on pages 32 and 33 are completely unsupported by the record; otherwise, why no citations to the trial transcript of documents that support their conclusions.

For this reason alone the Court must ignore Appellants' argument about reversible error by the trial court at the trial. Its the Appellants' duty to present a record and brief showing detailed reasons how and where the trial court erred in

considering certain evidence and what evidence the court should have considered. Appellants' Brief is devoid of such an analysis. The Appellees presented evidence and argument that the Legislature passed a tax law, the state agency responsible enforced the law and collected the impact fee, and the executive branch did its duty by defending the law when challenged. The trial court rejected the Appellants' contentions that such actions on the part of the Appellees amounted to "inequitable conduct" toward the persons who paid the fee. The Final Order reflects such a conclusion. Appellants have failed to present any reason why the trial court's decision must be overturned.

E. IT WOULD BE A GROSS INEQUITY TO REQUIRE THE CITIZENS OF FLORIDA TO PAY INTEREST TO THOSE WHO PAID THE IMPACT FEE

Nowhere in Appellants' Brief do they even attempt to do a balancing of interests, as was done in Flack, Broward County v. Finlayson, Chiles v. United Faculty of Florida, or State v. Family Bank of Hallandale, to determine if the taxpayers or the public would be injured more whether interest were paid to the Appellants. If a valid assessment under Flack had been done, it would have become apparent that it would be a far greater burden on the citizens of the State to pay interest of any sort than it would be not to pay interest to the Appellants.

The Appellants, while having in their possession the total amount of the impact fees paid to the State, have neither informed this Court of the amount of the prejudgment (or post judgment) interest presently at stake. Nor have Appellants informed this Court out of what funds these interest payments will come or what effect

on the Florida budget the payment of interest will have. The estimated total prejudgment and postjudgment interest through June, 1995, will be more than \$50 Million, with interest accruing at more than \$2 Million a month until fully paid, at 12%, if interest is awarded. The interest payment would not come out of the impact fees collected, but would have to be taken directly out of the General Revenue Fund. As a consequence, either taxes will have to be raised or the budget will have to be cut.

Like in <u>Flack</u>, those who paid the impact fee will receive a return of the impact fee money they paid. However, those same persons have also received the direct and indirect benefit of the State funded services such as education, welfare, law enforcement, prisons and parks and recreation that the impact fees helped fund. To now receive their money back AND receive interest, the Appellants would have received service paid by others and now avoided by them. The Appellees assert that this case does not warrant an award of interest.

III ANOTHER, INDEPENDENT GROUND EXISTS TO UPHOLD THE DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT DENYING THE APPELLANTS PREJUDGMENT INTEREST IN THIS CASE

The law in this State is clear on this point, an appellate court must affirm a decision of a trial court if the court's decision is supported by any theory of law even though the trial court did not rely on that particular theory of law. <u>Vandergriff v. Vandergriff</u>, 456 So. 2d 464 (Fla. 1984). <u>Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee</u>, <u>supra; Chase v. Turner</u>, 560 So. 2d 1317 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). In this case, an alternative to upholding the trial court's denial of prejudgment interest rests on the theory that the Appellants failed to preserve their right to prejudgment interest by

failing to seek such an award at the time the judgment in this case became final.

Because of this failure, the Appellants have run afoul of this Court's decision in

McGurn v. Scott, 596 So. 2d 1042 (Fla. 1992). Appellants were required, under

McGurn, to seek and be awarded prejudgment interest in the final judgment before an appeal was taken of that final judgment. Because such an award was not made, and since prejudgment interest cannot be "reserved," Appellants have lost their right to prejudgment interest.

Interest is defined as the compensation allowed by law for the use or detention of money; interest is merely another element of **pecuniary damages**. Florida Steel Corp. v. Adaptable Developments, Inc., 503 So.2d 1232,1236 (Fla. 1986); Argonaut Insurance Co. v. May Plumbing Co., Id., 474 So.2d 212, 214 (Fla. 1985).9/ However, as a mere element of damages, prejudgment interest must be determined and awarded to the prevailing party **before** the court's ruling becomes a "final" judgment. 10/ That is the lesson this Court taught us in McGurn v. Scott, supra. The issue before this Court in McGurn was whether "a trial court may issue a final appealable order

⁹/ <u>See also Peavy v. Dyer</u>, 605 So. 2d 1330, 1332 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), where the District Court stated the following:

Once this element of damages is **awarded in the final judgment**, prejudgment interest, like all other elements of damages, becomes part of a single total sum adjudicated to be due and owing. (e.s.)

^{10/} The Court stated in McGurn that "a judgment attains the degree of finality necessary to support an appeal when it adjudicates the merits of the cause and disposes of the action between the parties, leaving no judicial labor to be done except the execution of the judgment.

<u>Id.</u>, at 1043. "Final judgments or orders . . . leave nothing of a judicial character to be done." <u>Id.</u>

while reserving jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest. <u>Id.</u>, 596 So. 2d, at 1043. This Court began by noting that a judgment is "final" when there remains no judicial labor except the execution of the judgment. <u>Id.</u> at 1043 (citing, Gore v. Hansen, 59 So. 2d 538 (Fla. 1952)). This Court went on to discuss the nature and status of prejudgment interest, and noted again that prejudgment interest was an element of damages, <u>McGurn</u>, 596 So. 2d, at 1044, and that:

[a]n element of damages is not ancillary to the subject matter of the cause regardless of how straightforward and ministerial the calculation of those damages may be. Therefore, the determination of prejudgment interest is directly related to the cause at issue and is not incidental to the main adjudication.

By reserving jurisdiction to address the issue of prejudgment interest, the instant trial court failed to dispose of all material issues in controversy and, therefore, the order was not final. It is improper for a trial judge to render an order which in all respects appears to be an ordinary final money judgment, but which leaves the determination of prejudgment interest for future adjudication.

While a judgment or order which reserves jurisdiction to award prejudgment interest technically is not a final order, if a trial court improperly renders such a judgment which appears to be, or has the attributes of a final judgment, the order will be deemed to have become a final judgment requiring review by immediate appeal.

Thus, the parties will be deemed to have waived any matter reserved for future adjudication by the trial court, with the exception of attorney's fees and costs.

Prejudgment interest is an element of damages that must be decided before final judgment is set forth and must be part of the final judgment.

<u>ld.</u>, at 1044-1045.

Appellants did not request prejudgment interest in their motion for summary judgment. They did not take any action after the trial court's Final Order of November 30, 1993, to have an award of prejudgment interest inserted into an amended or

corrected order. In fact, the Appellants did not seek prejudgment interest prior to the appeal on the merits or during the time when the case was before this Court.

Appellants did not seek interest until December 8, 1994, more than a year after the trial court's Final Order. The Appellants implicitly "reserved" the issue of prejudgment interest until after the appellate process. Appellants did so by not seeking an award of interest from the trial court prior to the appeal by the Appellees. McGurn is clear, "[p]rejudgment interest is an element of damages that must be decided before final judgment is set forth and must be part of the final judgment." Id., 596 So. 2d at 1044-1045. Having not sought to have an award of interest added to the "final" judgment and having a "final" judgment issued not containing an award of prejudgment interest, Appellants have waived any right to such an award. There is absolutely no provision under McGurn to allow a prevailing party to receive an award of prejudgment interest from a trial court after the appellate process has been completed. This Court has no alternative but to affirm the denial of Appellants' request for prejudgment.

IV. POSTJUDGMENT INTEREST CANNOT BE AWARDED AGAINST THE STATE IN TAX REFUND MATTERS

This is a case of first impression in this Court. It is the Appellees' position that there is not only no statutory authority for the State to pay postjudgment interest on tax monies collected and then refunded, but the decisions of this Court have never supported such a position. To the contrary, the Court's decisions have treated interest, whether prejudgment or postjudgment, as equal, <u>Treadway</u>, <u>supra</u>; stated otherwise "interest is interest." That being the case, the refusal to apply prejudgment interest in

a tax refund case would be consistent with the denial of postjudgment interest in the same case. Until now, where the State has been required to pay prejudgment interest it has also been required to pay postjudgment interest. See, e.g. Treadway Thus, in those cases where prejudgment interest is not awardable, neither is postjudgment interest.

Additionally, since the Legislature has not expressly waived the State's immunity for the payment of postjudgment interest, this Court should not create a new, monetary liability on the State where the Legislature has not budgeted for such an expense. Is it not in the public's interest, especially after this year's budget fights, to cause a further bleeding of precious funds away from the public schools and social services just to pay interest on a tax refund.

- A. SEC. 55.03, FLA. STAT., DOES NOT MANDATE, MUCH LESS ADDRESS THE STATE'S PAYMENT OF POSTJUDGMENT INTEREST ON TAXES COLLECTED AND THEN REFUNDED
- 1. SEC. 55.03, FLA. STAT., DOES NOT ADDRESS TAX REFUND CASES

Appellants' initial argument on postjudgment interest is that Sec. 55.03, Fla. Stat. (1993), "mandates," "as a matter of right," that this Court reverse the trial court and require the payment of postjudgment interest on the moneys collected under the impact fee. Appellants' Brief, p.6. Sec. 55.03 does **not** mandate the payment of interest on the refund of taxes that are contested through the appellate process. The statute is silent on the point. While the cases of this Court cited by the Appellants, Brief, p. 6, speak for themselves, Appellants' argument runs up against the State's immunity from attacks on its treasury unless waived by the Legislature.

Sec. 55.03(1) states, in pertinent part:

A judgment or decree entered on or after October 1, 1981, shall bear interest at the rate of 12 percent a year unless the judgment or decree is rendered on a written contract or obligation providing interest at a lesser rate, . . .

There is nothing in the statute that mentions its applicability to the State in general and to tax refunds in specific. When used in the general concept, this Court's holdings on statutory construction in State v. Jett, 626 So. 2d 691 (Fla.1993), City of Miami Beach v. Galbut, 626 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1993), and Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 1984), that an unambiguous statute is not to be judicially altered, is the law of the State. However, there is a major exception to this general rule on statutory construction. That exception exists when a party seeks to have a general statute applied against the State and the effect will be a drain on the funds held in the State's Treasury. In that case, the law of sovereign immunity takes precedence over the above-discussed general rule of statutory construction.

Contrary to the assertion of the Appellants, there is a difference between a legislative waiver of the State's immunity to be sued and a waiver of the State's liability to pay interest on its debts. In a tax context, the waiver of the State's immunity must be express. 11/ See Dickinson v. City of Tallahassee, 325 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1975) (Had State waived its immunity so as to be taxed by the City of Tallahassee); State ex rel. Charlotte County v. Alford, 107 So. 2d 27, 29 (Fla. 1958) (Whether the legislative act subjected the State's land to ad valorem taxation) Again, the Legislature has

See Sec. 196.199(4), Fla. Stat., expressly waiving immunity from taxation to certain government-owned lands

expressly authorized the payment of interest on its debts. <u>See</u> Sec. 215.422(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (interest to be paid to vendors if the State's bills are not timely paid) and Sec. 220.723, Fla. Stat. (interest to be paid on corporate income tax overpayments).

Based upon this Court's long standing precedence, Appellants' interpretation of Sec. 55.03's applicability to the refunds of taxes from the State Treasury must be rejected. 12/ The rejection would be based on the fact that there is absolutely no mention whatsoever in that statute of a waiver of the State's immunity from the payment of interest or of that statute's applicability to the State Treasury. It is the Legislature's sole prerogative to waive the State's immunity, not this Court's. The express words of the statue do not reveal an intent to waive the State's Treasury protections and permit the award of postjudgment interest from the Treasury. Further evidence in support of this position are the State's budgets enacted over time. There is no mention in any of the appropriation acts contained in the Laws of Florida providing for postjudgment interest on tax refunds. If the Legislature had waived its immunity, such an item would have had to have had an appropriation because taxes are refunded year after year.

Under the present circumstances of this case, Sec. 55.03, when applied to the State and the State Treasury, is "ambiguous." because there is no express language in Sec. 55.03 waiving the State's general immunity. Furthermore, because Sec. 55.03's applicability to the State Treasury in tax refund cases is ambiguous, this Court

The Court must reject the Appellants' argument in spite of Appellants' reliance on the word "shall" contained in Sec. 55.03 and the cases cited as to that word's generally accepted meaning. Brief, p. 6.

must follow its own long-held precedence and construe the payment of postjudgment interest strictly against the Appellants, rather, finding that public policy be liberally construed to dictate that the Treasury be protected. ¹³/

2. A TAX REFUND IS **NOT** A "MONEY JUDGMENT" SUBJECT TO SEC. 55.03

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